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Introduction





The island of Capri, pronounced CAH-pri not Ca-PREE, lies 17 nautical miles due south of Naples, and 3 miles out from the Sorrentine peninsula. It is 3¾ miles long, varies in breadth from ¾ to 1¾ miles and covers an area of 2,560 acres, of which Capri occupies 988 and Anacapri 1,572. The high land in the west, which rises 1,932 feet to the peak of Monte Solaro, and the less elevated area in the east, rising to 1,099 feet at Monte Tiberio and there plunging precipitously into the sea, are formed of whitish-grey limestones. The intervening depression is filled by sandstones and marls. Capri abounds in natural grottoes; most are at sea-level, but a number are found at a considerable altitude. Capri was not always an island. It probably shook itself free from the mainland during eruptions which convulsed the whole Neapolitan region and left the deposits of volcanic tuff which occur above the limestone and immediately below the present land surface.


As to climate, Capri is small enough to feel the full effects of the sea, large and uneven enough to provide local variations. In winter and spring the prevailing winds are north (tramontana), east (levante) and north-east (grecale), alternating with south (ostro) and the humid south-west (libeccio) and south-east (scirocco). In summer westerly (ponente) winds prevail, particularly the north-west (maestrale), which ushers in the finest weather and blows constantly through most of the day until towards evening it gives place to the land breeze from the north. The winds from the south sometimes carry dust from Africa; and in late spring and early summer there is occasionally bafuogno, a condition with hardly any wind at all, when the air is hot and humid, the sea dead calm, clouds hang over Monte Solaro, and everyone is limp and in a bad humour. The annual rainfall is relatively light, and there is little or no rain at all between June and August. Owing to the precipitous character of the island, rain is caught only on the roofs and terraces of houses and stored in cisterns; the water supply thus provided is totally inadequate and has to be supplemented massively from the mainland. The mean annual temperature is about 60° Fahr. The diurnal range is exceptionally low and there is no sudden fall of temperature at sunset. Capri, which is generally mild in winter and cool in summer, is blessed not only with equability of temperature but also bright sunshine, which is almost constant in summer and comparatively frequent in winter. Climatic shocks, however, occur with little or no warning. There are sudden thunderstorms and destructive thunderbolts. September can be marred by short outbursts of high wind, sometimes of tornado force, and torrential rain. Most devastating are the fierce storms which not infrequently occur in the last few days of December and the beginning of January and can cause great havoc on the coast. For residence, a southern aspect is more suitable in winter and a northern in summer, but there is virtually no spot in the island which enjoys the advantage of both. On the whole it is best to avoid the northerly aspect, since houses facing north on Capri, however charming their prospect over the Bay of Naples, are not agreeable in the winter months when icy winds sweep over the island; north-facing houses can also be formidably damp.


The land surface is notably green, with large areas covered by trees, shrubs and vines. This description applies to much of Anacapri, the land between Anacapri and Marina Grande, Aiano, Torina, Matermania, and the slopes of Monte Tuoro and Monte San Michele.


The high land of Anacapri is isolated from the lower part of the island by a sheer cliff, which until 1874, when the carriage road between Capri and Anacapri was completed, could be scaled only by the Scala Fenicia, the ancient rock-cut staircase which led from Marina Grande to the gateway of Anacapri village, or by the Passetiello, a narrow and difficult mountain path linking the Torina zone of Capri with the upland plain of Cetrella. From earliest times remoteness from each other, persistent enmity, separate religious festivals and different characteristics have distinguished the two communities, which, if both were on the same level, would be only ten minutes walking-distance apart.


The island has always been noted for its clear air, the celebrated aria di Capri, to which the relaxed mores of the inhabitants and visitors are often attributed. In 1919 an English resident found it necessary to swathe her two female dogs in chastity belts: ‘Must do it. Must do it. Dogs in Sirene most immoral dogs in the world. Everybody immoral in Sirene. It’s the air. Dogs. People. Can’t help it, poor dears.’1 Capresi and Anacapresi attribute each other’s failings to the difference between the upper and lower air. In 1890 a native of Capri told an English resident: ‘These people of Anacapri are born thieves and liars … they cannot help it – the very air of Anacapri makes them thieves, whether they wish to be or not. You never see one of them without a sack on his shoulder to hide in it what he has stolen.’ On the other hand, the people of Anacapri ‘consider the air of Capri as deleterious to all moral principle; … they wonder how an honest stranger can remain any length of time among such corrupted and evil specimens of humanity.’2


What of the islanders today? They remain, as they have always been, totally involved with the island and its prosperity. There is a local saying: ‘I Capresi sono attaccati all’ Isola come le patelle agli scogli’ (the Capresi are attached to the island like limpets to the rocks). Since their prosperity depends entirely on the exploitation of foreigners – and this includes mainland Italians – everything is geared to this end and the characters of most of the islanders are moulded accordingly.


Long famous as the island of pleasure, it is this aspect in particular which they have been so successful in fostering. They start with a decided advantage in occupying an island which has an exceptionally benign climate, is free from the tectonic disasters which beset the mainland, and is a most impressive work of nature. Capri is endowed with spectacular beauty and extraordinary variations of form in a small space, ranging from remote and delectable corners in the countryside and on the coast, to the hum and excitement of the town – and everywhere eye-catching views of cliff and mountain, sea and ships. The pleasures provided are various, and no matter how eccentric or outrageous you may be in your pursuit of them, no one questions how you or other people live. In 1632 the pleasure-loving Parisian, Bouchard, found both the women and the boys beautiful and willing, and in the nineteenth century, amidst the stuffy morals of the rest of Europe, Capri enjoyed a sexual permissiveness, which was openly acknowledged, where rich women came happily to be bedded by the handsome and virile marinai, while homosexuals could enjoy the island’s boys and young men – all, of course, at a price. There were quieter pleasures in the enjoyment of the climate, which was particularly suitable for invalids; in wonderment at the natural scenery and, if you were a painter, in the joy of depicting it; restaurants with delicious food and wine; caffè and bars where you could gossip; the aura of a welcoming, happy and good-looking people; and, most special to Capri, its quality as lotusland, where the outside world could be forgotten. All these things are still more or less true. Capri still maintains a bewitching air of exclusivity and charm in spite of widespread vulgarisation and, in the season, an apparently endless procession of conducted parties (comitive) spending a day there in their package tour of the Naples area; and hordes of day-trippers (pendolari), mostly from Naples, who cover the island like a swarm of untidy ants.


The islanders have never advertised their wares and have had no need to do so. Capri has acquired the reputation of being an earthly paradise, and the inhabitants take good care that this reputation persists. For the visitor, everything must appear to be couleur de rose. Thus, outwardly, there are no murders, and no muggings in alleyways; boats never collide in the harbour; and no one is ever injured by cacciatori shooting song-birds in the Anacapri woods. If by some unlucky chance any of these things happen, news of the event soon vanishes. It is perhaps not an accident that, apart from occasional pamphlets on social, political and environmental matters, issued by the local Communist Party, there is no local news-sheet, and current information about the island has to be sought in the Naples Il Mattino, which, of course, covers only major items.


The Capresi themselves are an enclosed and secretive people and usually put up every sort of defence – in the form of straightforward lies, half-truths, evasions, referring you to someone else (scarica barile) – against the over-inquisitive foreigner. On the other hand, they are tremendous gossips and, while usually prepared to talk in favourable terms about themselves, like nothing better than tearing apart another person’s reputation. Thus diligent enquiry with A can produce basic information about himself and more colourful details of B and C, and vice versa. A resident foreigner advised me not to dig too deep and said that usually I would be told just as much as would be thought good for me; when once I sought information from her on a sensitive topic she declined to answer, saying ‘I have to live with these people’. Nevertheless, although increasingly regarded as being troppo insistente and sometimes finding productive sources liable to dry up, I have obtained a great deal of useful material from the many helpers and sources noted in the Acknowledgements.


In disputes involving foreigners, the Capresi band closely together, and it will be a lucky foreigner who in a law case, for example, finds any islander ready to give evidence on his behalf against another islander – as the following cautionary tale shows. Many years ago a foreigner owned a large villa, which as a rule was let to suitable foreign tenants. At one point the villa was let to an Italian resident, who appeared to have good credentials, but in the event proved very unsatisfactory. Not only did he default on his rent and refuse to go, but also misappropriated some of the contents of the villa. Unfortunately no inventory had been made and when he was finally evicted and the owner complained about the missing objects, not a single Caprese could be found to give evidence that he or she had once seen such and such an item in the villa. Nor was this all. When he was on the point of death the major-domo of the villa asked the foreigner to visit him at home and with engaging frankness begged forgiveness for the theft of various objects which were clear to see scattered about his house.


What, for want of a better phrase, may be called ‘cultural activities’ are rare. Making money out of the visitors is the dominant activity, and this is done by the islanders with characteristic Italian ingenuity and skill. Because this makes them happy, most of them look happy. A glum face is rarely seen. By October, however, many Capresi look tired, because they have worked extremely hard since May keeping the system going – happy all the same for a successful season and because six months’ rest, with the prospect of lazy days and perhaps a winter-cruise, lies ahead.


How the islanders dispose of all the money they make exercises the tax authorities, and there is a strong permanent team of the Guardia di Finanza – a marshal (maresciallo), a sergeant (brigadiere) and eight corporals (appuntati) – to enforce tax payments, both local and national, and prevent the illegal export of currency, by a population of only 12,500. Many islanders invest their profits in Buoni Ordinari Tesoro (BOT), which until recently paid an astonishing 18% tax free, but by 1984 was down to 15%.


Like all Italians, the Capresi are disillusioned and cynical about local politics. Even if they actually know which politicians belong to what party, they tend to regard them generally as mascalzoni (scoundrels) or burattini (puppets), but do not worry greatly, because the politicians seldom impinge on the tourist trade, from which the greater part of the population earn their bread and butter. While Anacapri could look back on continuity between 1947 and 1970, when the efficient Tommaso De Tommaso was sindaco, the instability of the Capri comune is illustrated by the fact that, on four occasions since 1944, Naples had to appoint a provincial administrator (commissario prefettizio) to the island, because the local politicians were unable to form a government.


Ultimately everything depends on the contributions made by foreigners. In the old days when the islanders were poor, they were grateful to British residents like Henry Wreford and George Clark, who helped them to develop. In the latter part of the nineteenth century there was a steady stream of well-heeled German tourists, and especially the munificent Fritz Krupp. There were the eccentrics and failures and well-to-do residents of the early 1900s, who spent their lives in Capri because they loved it. Between the wars, under the approving gaze of Mussolini, tourism made steady progress. After World War II the islanders began to revel in boom-time and Capri became fashionable world-wide. While individual foreigners have always been liked, either because they are simpatici, or talk Italian or take an intelligent interest in the island, the ever-increasing numbers of foreigners are in effect despised, as being no more than people to be provided with the varied pleasures they require, relieved of their cash and, as ephemeral creatures, sent on their way rejoicing.


As the ’eighties begin, Capri has ceased to be fashionable, has lost almost all the elegance which it had in the ’sixties and ’seventies, attracts fewer people who are prepared to contend with the ever-rising prices, and is beset by increasing hordes of pendolari, who contribute nothing to the economy and leave behind piles of rubbish. Whatever maybe the future of this amazing island – and, as one who has greatly enjoyed his visits, I wish it and the islanders well – its past at least can be studied.


A word of warning to the reader. This does not set out to be a well-proportioned chronicle of Capri from start to finish. The book is biased towards a recital of the ‘pleasure’ theme and skips quickly over some periods and concentrates more on others, portraying at some length the individuals, both native and foreign, who enjoyed the island and enhanced its pleasures. Thus I move rapidly up to about 1880; expatiate on the next forty-five years; examine the effects of Fascism; look selectively at World War II and the post-war boom up to 1952; and end with reflections on various aspects of the island between 1952 and 1985. Unless otherwise stated, detailed information is correct only up to May 1984.







Notes


1. EW, 223–4. The lady was Gwen Galatà.


2. Walters, 1893, 10–11. The Capresi still refer to the Anacapresi as ciammurrielli, a word of uncertain derivation, which today means simply ‘stinkers’.






















CHAPTER ONE


2,000 Years of Foreign Rule





The remains of various extinct animals, elephant, rhinoceros, hippopotamus, cave-bear, tiger, stag and tortoise, found in the Tragara valley under volcanic deposits and modern soil, are evidence that in Quaternary times Capri had a tropical climate and was connected to the mainland, the site of these bones being possibly a watering place, which subsequently emptied itself into the sea during a landslide.1


Prehistoric man is represented by stone implements and pottery, which have been found in the Grotta delle Felci (Grotto of the Ferns) on the eastern slope of Monte Solaro and at several open sites dotted around the island. These remains suggest sparse occupation of an island which, apart from its caves, was devoid of natural cover.2


Tradition represents Capri as being occupied by the Teleboae, members of a piratical race from north-west Greece. Their ruler Telon, then an old man, embraced a nymph of the river Sebethos, near Naples, who in due course gave birth to a son Oebalus – the first of many Capri scandals.


The Sirens, half women, half birds, were mythical beings who had the power of enchanting by their song anyone who heard them. Ancient writers were in doubt as to their location.3 Although none placed the Sirens in Capri, they are commemorated there by the Scoglio delle Sirene, the rock which juts into the sea at Marina Piccola. What better place could have been chosen by the Teleboan brigands, keeping watch from their cave on the side of Monte Solaro, to lure passing boats ashore, using their most attractive women as bait?


In the Odyssey4 Homer describes how Odysseus escaped the lure of the Sirens by inserting wax in the ears of his crew and having himself bound to the mast of his ship; the event is recorded by the romantic German painter Friedrich Preller, who places it in a Capri-type landscape.


*


The first mention of Capri in history is by Strabo, the Greek historian and geographer, writing at the end of the first century B.C.: ‘Capreai had two small towns in ancient times, though later only one. The Neapolitans took possession of this island too’.5 Naples, founded around 600 B.C. by the Greek colony of Cumae, soon became the centre of Greek culture in Campania. In Capri two stretches of defensive wall, one known as muro greco, still survive on the northern side of the town, but no early Greek remains have ever been found in the island. The masonry of the town-wall is like that of early Pompeii and other towns of Campania fortified from the fourth century B.C. by the Etruscans. It is, therefore, in an Italic rather than Greek context that the walled town should be placed.6 The later, single town, to which Strabo refers, was probably around Marina Grande, which remained the principal centre throughout the secure years of the Roman Empire and until Muslim pirates drove the inhabitants back to their highland. Although Capri lacked early Greek artefacts, the islanders, as dependants of Naples, adopted and retained for many years the Greek customs of that city.


Capri was ‘discovered’ by Octavian (later the Emperor Augustus) in 29 B.C., when he was returning to Italy from Egypt, with all his rivals conquered and he himself commander of the legions and thus master of the Roman world. While sailing towards Naples he landed on Capri, to be greeted by a favourable omen – ‘The branches of an old oak, which had drooped right to the ground and were withering, suddenly regained their vigour’7 – which so delighted him that he arranged to buy the island from Naples and gave them Ischia in exchange. Augustus paid many visits to Capri and looked on it as an admirable place for a holiday. He had a passion for building, and there can be no doubt that many of the Roman structures belong to his reign. For the movement of building materials, contact between Capri and Anacapri would have been essential, and it is likely that the Scala Fenicia, the rock-cut stairway which joined Anacapri to the lower region, if not already existing, was cut at this time.8


In the summer of A.D. 14, suffering from the stomach ailment which ended in his death, Augustus visited Capri, ‘where he gave himself up wholly to rest and geniality…. He distributed Roman gowns (togae) and Greek cloaks (pallia), stipulating that the Romans should use the Greek dress and language, and the Greeks, the Roman. He continually watched the exercises of the cadets (ephebi).9 Afterwards he gave these young men a banquet and not merely allowed but insisted on the playing of games and scrambling for tokens which entitled the holders to fruit, sweetmeats and the like. In fact he indulged in every sort of fun.’10 He was unfavourably impressed by the laziness of some of his staff who, now settled on the island, were being affected by the Capri air, and as a parting shot dubbed the island Apragopolis (‘City of do-nothings’).


Augustus crossed over to Naples, but feeling worse on the homeward journey took to his bed at Nola, where he died in his seventy-sixth year. He was succeeded as Emperor by his stepson Tiberius, who for the first twelve years of his reign continued Augustus’s policy of keeping the Empire within its existing boundaries and ruling it by a judicious mixture of force and diplomacy.
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Capri from the air, looking west. Anacapri in background, with summit of Monte Solaro; part of Capri town and Marina Grande in middle ground; Faraglioni rocks and Monte Tiberio, with Villa Iovis, in foreground. Courtesy of Italian Tourist Bureau, Capri
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The Emperor Augustus, about 15 B.C. From a statue in the Vatican Museum
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The Emperor Tiberius, veiled, in the office of Pontifex Maximus, performing a sacrifice. Courtesy of The Trustees of The British Museum








But he disliked Rome and the Romans disliked him. In A.D. 26, in his sixty-eighth year, Tiberius decided to leave Rome for ever and make his home in Capri. The island was his private property and by its seclusion offered the old man, who was still in excellent health, peace and enjoyment. According to Suetonius he was ‘particularly attracted to the island because it was accessible only by one small beach, being everywhere else surrounded with sheer cliffs of great height and by deep water’.11 Tacitus adds that there were ‘no more than a few facilities for small ships, and no ship could put in unobserved by a coastguard. In winter the climate is mild; its summers catch the western breeze and are made extremely pleasant by the circling expanse of the open sea; it also overlooks … the most beautiful of bays.’12


Tiberius established himself in twelve villas, which must have included some already built by Augustus. He was thus able to take advantage of all the vagaries of the Capri climate.13 Having settled himself on Capri, he continued in his care for the Empire, maintained links with Rome and took decisions on matters referred to him. In short, he continued to be an effective, if distant, ruler.


I do not wish to add to the already enormous volume of literature about the sensual and vicious behaviour to which, after a long life of self-control, Tiberius abandoned himself in the amiable surroundings of his private island, beyond quoting some of the relevant passages from Tacitus and Suetonius.14 Here it must be said that both were writing in the early part of the second century A.D., many years after the death of their subject, both perhaps drawing on the same chronique scandaleuse.


Tacitus writes: ‘Tiberius, once so much absorbed in the cares of State, now relaxed with equal application into secret indulgences and immoral pastimes.’ Suetonius begins: ‘Having gained the freedom of privacy and being no longer in the public eye, he at last gave vent to all the vices which he had for a long time tried unsuccessfully to conceal …’ and then launches into his notorious account of the Emperor’s pleasures.


‘In his retreat on Capri, he devised special parlours of secret vices (sellaria) where bevies of girls and dissipated young men, collected from all quarters, and devisers of unnatural practices (spintriae), in groups of three, would perform sexual acts with each other in his presence, so as to stimulate his failing lust. He decorated apartments with pictures and statuettes of the most indecent paintings and figures, and equipped them with the works of Elephantis,15 so that in each act that was to be performed the model for the required position would be available. In woods and glades he devised places for sex, and in caves and grottos young people of both sexes, dressed as little Pans and Nymphs, offered their services.’
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Villa Iovis from the air, the ruins of Tiberius’s villa surmounted by the church and statue of Santa Maria del Maria del Soccorso. Photo: Herman Hammer, reproduced from illustration published by AB Allhem, Sweden








Tacitus mentions that these new words, sellarii and spintriae, were coined on Capri, ‘one drawn from the obscenity of the place and the other from the versatility of the pathic. In kingly style he polluted with his lecheries the children of free-born parents. Nor were beauty and physical charm his only incitements to lasciviousness, but sometimes a boyish modesty and sometimes a noble lineage.’ Boys were procured by threats, force and bribery. Amongst the spintriae was the future Emperor Vitellius, who was thus ‘the cause of his father’s first advancement, at the expense of his own chastity’.16


Suetonius continues: ‘he trained small boys whom he called his “tiddlers” (pisciculi) to get between his thighs and play while he was swimming; exciting him with their tongue and nibbling … and he even put sturdier, though still unweaned, infants to suck his member like a nipple; it was to this type of pleasure that he was particularly prone both by inclination and age. And on this account, in respect of a picture by Parrhasius17 depicting Atalanta sucking off Meleager, bequeathed to him on condition that, if he was offended by the subject, he could have 10,000 gold pieces instead, Tiberius not only preferred to keep the picture but assigned it to his own bedroom. It is related that once, while sacrificing, Tiberius was so struck by the appearance of the attendant who proffered the incense-casket that he could not control himself, but with the ceremony scarcely over hurried him aside and ravished him, and did the same to his brother, a flute-player. Soon afterwards, because the brothers complained of this outrage, he had their legs broken’.


No doubt, much of the Emperor’s time was spent in the Villa Iovis, perched magnificently on the precipitous north-east tip of the island, and, according to Suetonius, it was here that unwanted persons were cast to their death from what is now called ‘Il Salto’ (the Leap).


Tiberius occasionally crossed to the mainland and in A.D. 32 advanced as far as his own gardens on the Vatican, but he did not enter the City and, sensitive about his decrepit appearance, placed soldiers to prevent anyone from coming near him.


Back in Capri the consciousness of his own wretchedness was expressed in a letter to the Senate which began: ‘If I knew what to write to you, Conscript Fathers, or how to write it, or what not to write at this time, may the gods and goddesses destroy me more wretchedly than I feel myself to be perishing every day.’18 In his seventy-eighth year, the lonely old man’s robust health at last gave way. In the spring of A.D. 37 he became seriously ill and on 16 March had a fainting fit which was thought to be fatal. Gaius, his great-nephew and heir designate, was present and emerged to be saluted as Emperor. Tiberius, however, recovered and called for something to eat. The Prefect of the Pretorian Guard gave orders that a quantity of clothes should be thrown on Tiberius and that he should be left alone. He was thus smothered to death – only a few days after the lighthouse (Torre del Faro) below the Villa Iovis had been brought down by an earthquake.


So ended Capri’s first ‘crowded hour’. It was followed by many years of obscurity. No Caesar resided there, but Commodus banished his wife Crispina and sister Lucilla to Capri in 182. Dio Cassius, writing in about 200, says: ‘It [Capri] lies not far from the mainland in the region of Surrentum and is good for nothing, but is renowned even to the present day because Tiberius had a residence there.19 Capri probably remained the personal property of successive Emperors until 476, when Romulus August (Augustulus), the last ruler of the Western Empire, died. Thereafter it was joined to the territory of Sorrento, which was subject to the Dukes of Naples.


*


Around 530 the island was acquired by the monastery of Monte Cassino, which had just been founded by Saint Benedict, and sometime before the end of the sixth century a Benedictine monastery, dedicated to Saint Stephen, was established in Capri.


In the seventh century Capri was visited by Bishop San Costanzo, who there fell ill and died. He was buried near the Marina and was chosen as patron of Capri, with 14 May as the day of his festa. Later, at a date unknown, a small church was built over his tomb and in one form or another has continued to this day as the basilica of San Costanzo.20 It was not until 1231, however, that Anacapri acquired its own patron saint and protector, Sant’ Antonio da Padova, who, whatever he may have lacked as a late arrival, surpassed San Costanzo in achievement. After working many miracles in Ferrara, Padua and Lisbon, which were later recorded in paintings by Titian and other masters, he died near Padua on 13 June 1231 – the day of his annual festa, one month later than his Capri rival.


From the ninth to the eleventh century Capri was constantly under threat of North African marauders, variously called Moslems, Saracens, Corsairs and Tripoli pirates, and there was very little pleasure except for the marauders themselves, who plundered what was portable and carried off the men, women and children to be sold as slaves on the North African coast. In Capri, which in 868 had been transferred from the Duke of Naples to the Doge of Amalfi, fishing and viticulture were constantly interrupted by the need to take refuge inland – usually in the Grotta del Castiglione, which was shielded by a castle on top of the Castiglione hill. In quieter times the town on the Marina continued to be inhabited and was still standing in the eleventh century, when the contemporary writer Edrisius says: ‘There is in Capri a town of medium size in the very middle of which rises a spring of water’ – referring evidently to the Marina and the Truglio fountain. In 994, under the papacy of John XVI, Capri achieved ecclesiastical autonomy, when its first Bishop, also named John, was consecrated by the Archbishop of Amalfi; the Cathedral was probably on the same site as the present church of Santo Stefano.


*


The arrival of the Normans, who quickly conquered Sicily and Southern Italy, brought no comfort to Capri, which they invaded in 1138. A group of Capresi, not wishing to submit, retreated to a fort, which since Byzantine times had guarded access to Anacapri; here they were blockaded and forced to surrender.


The twelfth century saw the emergence of one of Capri’s oldest families, the Arcucci, who came to the island from the Amalfitan coast. One, Sergio Arcucci, married Gemma Strina, member of another ancient Capri family, a union which enabled both families to enlarge their domains within the island. Brief glory came to the family in 1230 when Eliseo Arcucci served as a sea-captain21 in the fleet of Frederick II (‘Stupor Mundi’), son of a German father and Norman mother, who became Emperor of Germany in 1198 and King of Sicily in 1220.


Frederick’s death in 1250 was followed by a long struggle between Anjou and Aragon for the Kingdom of Sicily, which, it must be remembered, included Naples. Eventually a treaty between them acknowledged the separation and independence of the crowns of Naples and Sicily, the former being assigned to Anjou and the latter to Aragon.


Capri thus fell under the rule of Anjou. There were at this period in the island some 120 dwellings, representing a population of about 600. The islanders were extremely poor and, while fishing provided a modicum of food, there was never enough arable land, and in a bad year they would be on the brink of famine. It says much for the skill of Capri’s nameless spokesmen, who never failed to extract from successive rulers special privileges, without which the island could not have survived – the most important being exemption from Royal dues and the right to import grain from the mainland.


In 1343 Queen Joanna I succeeded to the throne of Anjou. She renewed the islanders’ privileges and appointed as her secretary and chamberlain Giacomo Arcucci, great-grandson of Eliseo, the sea-captain. In 1363, in fulfilment of a vow made to his protector, St James, Giacomo celebrated the birth of his first-born son by building a monastery, the Certosa di San Giacomo, in the valley between the Castiglione and Tuoro hills. The Queen helped to finance the project and granted Arcucci considerable tracts of the best land of Capri for the use of the Carthusians. The building, whose architect is unknown, was completed in 1374. The Queen and later various Popes granted the monks special privileges, which gave them control of much of the agricultural and economic life of the island, as well as the right to levy taxes on the produce of land and sea. Amongst the Papal gifts was the right to acquire the possessions of any Caprese family which became extinct. Thus the Certosa steadily increased in wealth, property and power, housing monks who, though few in number, lived luxuriously, attended by numerous servants, and were far richer than the Bishop and his Clergy.


The last twenty years of the fourteenth century were rendered hideous by hostilities between rival Anjou factions. A notable casualty was Giacomo Arcucci, who was disgraced and stripped of all his wealth, property and honours. Old and destitute he sought shelter in the Certosa, and there he died in 1397; the monks, in gratitude to their founder and benefactor, gave him a sumptuous funeral.22


In 1435 war again broke out between Anjou and Aragon. The Capresi, learning that the Aragonese had a measure of support amongst influential Neapolitans, decided to change sides, handed over the island to Alfonso of Aragon and witnessed his capture of Naples in 1442.


During the next fifty years successive Aragonese Kings of Naples confirmed the privileges and exemptions which Capri had been granted by Anjou, and added a curious new benefit – the right to control the catching of garfish (aguglie) – a small eel-like fish with a long sharp nose, which is still caught and considered a delicacy.


*


In the sixteenth century control of Naples passed first to Ferdinand and Isabella, rulers of a United Spain, and then to Frederick’s grandson Charles, the Austrian Hapsburg, who, already master of the Low Countries, became, on Frederick’s death in 1516, ruler of an empire larger than any since the time of Charlemagne. He moved his court from Flanders to Spain and, having little concern for his South Italian possessions, except as a source of revenue from taxes, henceforth appointed Viceroys to rule them.


To Moorish piracy, organised from the Barbary coast, was now added the Ottoman assault against Europe by land and sea. In 1535 Kheir-eddin (‘Barbarossa’), Admiral of the Turkish Fleet, after passing through the Straits of Messina, entered the Bay of Naples and ravaged its coasts and islands. Capri suffered the worst assault of its history. The fortress barring the Anacapri pass, which still bears Barbarossa’s name, was partly destroyed, the ancient walls of Capri town were demolished and many of the inhabitants fled to the mainland. Another attack in 1553 by the Turkish admiral Dragut led to the sack and burning of the Certosa. In face of these attacks, which went unpunished, the Spanish Viceroy allowed the islanders to keep and carry arms, some kind of civilian militia was formed, and defensive works were established in various parts of the island.


By 1561 the population had risen to about 1500, living in 349 dwellings. Fabio Giordano, a contemporary historian of Naples, wrote of the catching and bottling of quails, of the water-springs of the island, of the Certosa monastery and the Faraglioni rocks, of the Grotta del Castiglione, in which the inhabitants took refuge during the hostile raids, and of the stairway to Anacapri, whose population he describes as ‘deficient in virtue’. Capaccio summed up the islanders with Tacitean brevity: ‘nevertheless they live in extreme poverty, vying with each other in pride, always liable to be preyed upon by the Turks, who daily carry them away into slavery as they fish or sail’.


In the first half of the seventeenth century Capri was one of the poorest dioceses of the Roman Church. The bishop of the time considered that the Pope had sent him to Capri as a penance for his sins. His successor wrote to the Pope in 1632 that his episcopal income, derived mainly from a tithe on quails, was only 160 ducats23 a year, but even this he found difficult to extract from the poverty-stricken inhabitants. With this income the ‘Bishop of Quails’, as he became known, had to maintain the churches of Santo Stefano and San Costanzo, and pay numerous clerics, who, contrary to custom, retained three or four livings for their own use. The letter continued with more about the poverty and unruliness of the inhabitants, the rebelliousness of his clergy, and the high-handedness of the Carthusians, who claimed to be outside the jurisdiction of the Bishop and forbade the islanders to sell their produce, so that the market for the monks’ own crops should not be spoiled.24


In the same year as this woeful tale, Jean-Jacques Bouchard, a pleasure-loving Parisian, who was also a scholar and antiquarian, after spending Easter in Naples, crossed over to Capri and has a strong claim to being the first tourist. He was unfavourably impressed by the narrow streets and the small, one-storey, vaulted houses. He noted that many houses, churches and chapels were in ruins. He lodged at the Certosa, where he was well entertained and was particularly struck by certaines petites ricottes – the renowned soft white cheeses (ricottelle) made from goats’ milk, which were in great demand among tous les grands de Naples. At this time the monastery’s income was more than fifty times greater than that of the Bishop. Bouchard formed a poor opinion of the islanders, whom he found ‘very vicious, quarrelsome, rebellious, thievish, proud and all dying of hunger’. He had a good word, nevertheless, for the looks and willingness of the women and boys of Anacapri: ‘Les femmes y sont fort belles, comme aussi les garçons, et les uns et les autres font volontiers la courtoisie.’ The women raised large numbers of silkworms, the silk from Capri being the most highly prized of all the silk coming from Italy. The island had an abundance of olive groves, vineyards, wheat, flax and vegetables on the lower ground towards the harbour. The mountains were covered with oaks, holly, laurel, arbutus, myrtle and rosemary. The greatest share of the produce went to the Carthusian monks…. Bouchard paid particular attention to the ‘curiosities’ (anticaglie) of the island and was impressed by the Villa Iovis and the Roman remains on Monte San Michele, at Tragara and at Palazzo a Mare.25


Religious affairs continued to agitate the island. In 1641 Monsignor Paolo Pellegrino26 of Naples began a turbulent episcopate, which lasted some forty-two years, with a general visitation of the diocese. This revealed a state of such disorder that, to the dismay of all, he convened the first synod ever held in the island, and quickly put its recommendations for reform into practice. He antagonised his own clergy by enforcing that part of the synod which dealt De vita et honestate clericorum. They must wear their cassocks ‘fastened at the neck, so that in no wise should the chest appear uncovered’. They were forbidden to wear coloured shoes and fancy laces; to bathe in the sea except in private and then suitably clad; to frequent shops, which the synod likened to taverns; or to be seen in the company of women. He quarrelled with the Certosa over the collection of tithes, their control of the wine-trade, which discriminated against the importation of wine from his own vineyards in Naples, and their privileges in the pasturing of livestock. He made plentiful use of excommunication and formed gangs of armed thugs (percussori) to enforce his will on the islanders.


Growing up in this troubled scene was a very determined young lady, Prudentia,27 who was born in 1621, daughter of a Neapolitan merchant named Pisa and a caprese mother, Giustina Strina. At an early age she read ‘Lives of the Martyrs’, which had a profound effect on her mind. Inspired by the sufferings of the Saints she began to impose penances and tasks on herself which became ever more ingenious and severe. She had frequent converse with Jesus; ‘numerous letters and poems to her Divine Lover … couched in language that might be addressed with equal propriety by some terrestrial Juliet to her Romeo’.28 In 1641 she retired to a convent in Naples and four years later made her full profession as a Dominican. Having assumed the name Suor Serafina di Dio, she returned to Capri and there founded a small house of retreat for young women.


Early in 1656 Naples was attacked by the Plague, which in a short time devastated much of Southern Italy. The pestilence reached Capri in June and spread rapidly. Many of the clergy working amongst the victims were struck down, and it was no longer possible to administer sacraments to the dying. Bishop Pellegrino, who was among the survivors, begged the Prior of the Certosa, to send his monks to help care for the dying. But the Prior, claiming that the monks were ‘vowed to the strict observance of the cloister’, refused to help and barred the gates of the monastery against all comers.29 The deaths became so numerous that burial was impossible, and corpses were left where they lay. Some were thrown by the infuriated survivors over the walls of the Certosa, but the monks remained unscathed. The Plague, which lasted for five months, claimed half of Capri’s 1,700 inhabitants and completely wiped out many families. Invoking the ancient privilege by which they were allowed to inherit the possessions of families which had become extinct, the Carthusians added substantially to their already considerable estates.


The Plague did not quell either the intransigence of Bishop Pellegrino or the zeal of Suor Serafina. The former, after new quarrels with the Certosa, his own clergy and the civil authorities, was compelled to leave Capri and did not return until 1672. Serafina set about recruiting patrons and donors to support her work, to such good effect that in 1666 she was able to lay the foundation stone of a convent, named after Santa Teresa, whose life and circumstances so closely resembled her own;30 and a year later that of its Church. This astonishing woman then turned her attention to the mainland, where three convents were built, and in 1683 a fifth was founded in Anacapri. One of the peculiarities of the organisation of these new convents was that their inmates were nearly always recruited from the first convent in Capri. This in its turn was replenished by girls from the mainland, since its life had little appeal to the islanders.


In the 1680s the tide turned against her. Growing old, fixed in her ways and no longer Superior of the convent in Capri, Serafina was unable to control its policies. She was distressed that the rigours of the old régime were relaxed, while she herself lacked authority and was neglected and even ill-treated by the other nuns. Worse, she came to the adverse notice of the Inquisition.


In her younger days she had been accused of immoral relations with her uncle, Don Marcello Strina. At various times she had been called a ‘hypocrite, witch, drunkard, liar, lunatic, thief…. She was accused of necromancy and, strangest of all, of adorning herself with lace undergarments.’31 Subjected to periodic investigation by the Holy Office, in 1689 the verdict went against her and, as punishment, she was imprisoned in her cell, without the consolation of the Eucharist. Eventually deemed to be innocent of the various charges laid against her she was released in 1691. Her last years were plagued with ill-health and continuing spite within the Convent of Santa Teresa. She died there on 17 March 1699 in her seventy-eighth year and, in a spirit of reconciliation and attended by a great concourse of people, was buried in the Convent Church of San Salvatore.32


In 1682, to general relief, Bishop Pellegrino resigned his see and died within a few months. His successor set in motion the complete rebuilding of the Cathedral Church of Santo Stefano. The work was given to Marziale Desiderio, a master-builder of Amalfi, where he had already achieved fame in the construction of vaultings and domes. These features he combined with traditional Caprese methods for surfacing roofs, to produce a complex arrangement of curved surfaces which united beauty with the practical function of collecting rain-water. The body and façade of the church were built in the Baroque style, but free of superfluous adornments. Desiderio left Amalfi and became a citizen of Capri, where he headed a long line of skilled builders who carried on his traditions and were nicknamed ‘Marzianielli’; the Desiderio clan is still flourishing today.


In 1715 a magnificent silver statue of San Costanzo, patron saint of Capri, was commissioned, to replace the old wooden effigy housed in his church at the Marina, which had succumbed to the humidity and disintegrated. The new life-sized effigy was made of laminated silver, the layers held together by small nails. Fashioned by craftsmen in Naples and financed from public and private donations, it was lodged in the Cathedral of Santo Stefano. The Saint, represented as far as the waist, is in pontifical dress; he holds in his left hand a staff and book, and with his right hand bestows a benediction; amongst the adornments of his mitre are sapphires, garnets and beryls found at the Villa Iovis.33 It is this same effigy which is still carried in procession by fishermen every year at his festa on 14 May.


*


In 1713 Spanish rule was brought temporarily to an end by a Hapsburg invasion from Austria. They in turn were driven out of Naples in 1734 by Don Carlos, son of the Bourbon King of Spain, who was crowned King Charles III of the Two Sicilies (Naples and Sicily). So began 136 years of Bourbon rule.


The Bourbons interested themselves in the excavation of antiquities. The Villa Iovis was explored, and a fine polychrome marble floor from it was presented to the Cathedral, where, in spite of the poor reputation enjoyed by the Emperor Tiberius, it was re-laid in front of the High Altar. But the Bourbons also wanted Capri’s treasures for themselves. In 1750 four yellow and cipolino Roman columns were removed from the nave of the Church of San Costanzo and transplanted to the Royal Palace at Caserta, where they were converted into slabs and frames; their place in the church was taken by plain, granite columns, also of Roman origin.


In 1745 or 1746 occurred a notable event in the history of Capri, the arrival of the first foreign resident – Sir Nathaniel Thorold, last baronet of Harmston in Lincolnshire. Nothing is known of his birth or early life. At some stage he went on the Grand Tour and c.1740 had his portrait painted by an Italian artist. Later, and certainly before 1745, suffering from asthma and heavily in debt, he decided to leave England for ever. While in Holland, he met a wandering Jew from Leghorn (Livorno), who suggested that a fortune could be made in Italy, with its large Catholic population restricted to fish on Fridays, by anyone able to cure codfish so that it would last long enough to be eaten in the South. Thorold discovered that the technique used for salting herrings could also be applied to cod, and soon was in Leghorn supervising the arrival and disposal of the first cargo of salted codfish (baccalà). Thorold took lodgings in the house of Antonino Canale, an elderly apothecary and soon started an affair with his wife, Anna della Noce. The resulting scandal drove all three from Leghorn to Naples. Salted cod proved as popular in Naples as in Leghorn, and Thorold decided to make Capri his home and from it direct his growing business. He bought a property just outside the town-gate and commissioned Marziale Desiderio to construct a sumptuous dwelling overlooking the Bay of Naples. In the palazzo which Desiderio built for him Thorold installed English furniture, Greek and Roman antiquities, and every available comfort; the structure was liberally decorated with the Thorold coat of arms. Here he lived with his lover Anna, her official husband, Antonino Canale, and assorted children, who for the sake of propriety were all called Canale. Anna, born in 1743, may have been the daughter of Canale, but Nataniele (1745) must have been Thorold’s child. At the end of 1749 Samuele, who became Thorold’s favourite son, was born; others, including Carlo (1752), followed. These goings-on greatly displeased the Bishop, who in 1754 informed His Holiness that ‘a scandal had been caused by the co-habitation … of a certain married woman … with an heretical English nobleman’. The Pope seems to have taken the matter calmly. The Bishop then tried hard to convert Thorold to the Catholic faith, but could never extract any reaction from him except the Italian word pazienza. After Canale’s death the Bishop urged Thorold to marry Anna, but achieved nothing beyond the assurance that Thorold would consider the matter ‘bye and bye’. In his will of 1763 the Baronet gave instructions that after his death Samuel should be sent to England and educated as a Protestant; on reaching the age of twenty-one he was to apply for naturalisation and the right to change his name from Canale to Thorold, whereupon he would inherit Nathaniel’s English estates. 





[image: ]

Silver effigy of San Costanzo, 1715
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Sir Nathaniel Thorald, c. 1740.  Photo: Alan Nesbit








Nathaniel died peacefully on 28 August 1764. Anna, who, because she was not married to him, could not inherit his wealth and property, persuaded a notary, Michele Pagano, to concoct a bogus will, whereby Nathaniel left all his worldly possessions, specified in full detail, to Anna. Unfortunately for her the authentic will soon came to light, and all that Nathaniel had planned for Samuel was carried out. The rest of his illegitimate children remained in Capri and were progenitors of later members of the Canale family. The Palazzo Inglese, as it was known, also passed into the possession of the Canale family, and its name changed accordingly. Thorold is commemorated in the language of the island, for when a Caprese wants to postpone something indefinitely, he says in dialect ‘Baibai dicette ’u ’Nglese’.34


During the second half of the eighteenth century, in spite of occasional raids by the Corsairs, the economic condition of the islanders improved, as business in the products of land and sea increased. The island had long been known for its wine, the white mostly from Anacapri, the red from Capri. Norbert Hadrawa,35 secretary of the Austrian Legation in Naples and a frequent visitor at the end of the eighteenth century, both in the company of King Ferdinand IV and on his own to excavate Roman sites, considered Capri wine to be equal, if not superior, to the wine of Piedmont and the ‘Lacrima Cristi’ of the Vesuvian vineyards. Plentiful supplies of olive oil were produced. Oranges, lemons and melons were amongst the fruits grown for local consumption and for export. The only manufactures were fishing-nets, made by men and old women, and ribands and scarves, prepared by girls and young women from silk furnished by the merchants of Naples. Catches of fish, especially tuna, were abundant. In the summer young men went coral-fishing off Sardinia, but stood the risk of being captured by pirates and sold as slaves in North Africa.


There were some advances in education, thanks mainly to Monsignor Nicola Saverio Gamboni, who in 1777 became (the last) Bishop of Capri. Liberal, intelligent and energetic, he founded a seminary for training young priests, as well as four other schools, one of which was devoted to agriculture and naval affairs, and another to arts and crafts for girls.


The Certosa, which contained only fourteen monks, owned all the land in and around the Tragara Valley, and had many vineyards and olive-groves in other parts of the island, as well as possessions on the mainland. To judge from the steady and substantial income which the monks derived from their lands, they must have managed them efficiently. The monastery baked the best bread in the island and manufactured a liqueur, ‘Certosino’ (Capri version of Chartreuse), both of which were sold on behalf of the monks. With plenty of servants, they did themselves well in matters of food and drink. They continued to oppress the islanders with the exactions which had been their right since the earliest years of the monastery, but the most unpopular, the pecunia maris, levied on catches of fish, was abolished by Bishop Gamboni in 1786.


Fortunately for many islanders the trapping of quail in May and September, which was too widespread to be made a monopoly by either the religious or secular authorities, provided food for themselves during the two short seasons and a temporary income from the sale of the birds in Naples. Capri was a favourite landfall and resting-place for quail during their spring and autumn migrations. During the spring flight from North Africa both the scirocco, which otherwise had no friends, and San Costanzo, whose month is May, were blessed by the islanders. The autumn migration, when the birds flew south from Europe, was usually on a larger scale, and the birds, having fattened on the grain-fields along their route, were in prime condition. Thousands of quail were caught in nets hung on a long line of posts about 30 feet apart and 30 to 40 feet high, especially at what is now Due Golfi – the saddle of land between Torina and Capri town, from which the Bay of Naples and Gulf of Salerno are both visible – then called Le Parate (‘things prepared’ or traps for the quail). Birds blinded for the purpose were put as decoys in cages near the poles, so that their lamentations should attract new arrivals into the nets. When the nets were full enough they were hauled down, and the birds stuffed, still alive, into long cages for transport to the Naples market; many died during the journey. Other quail were caught individually by men with hand-nets, accompanied by boys to mark the quail and half-starved little dogs to flush them from their cover. Others, who had stunned themselves against the cliffs, were picked up by fishermen. As many as 12,000 quail could be taken in a single day and up to 150,000 in the fifteen days of a seasonal migration.


The King often visited Capri to hunt quail and partridge, and offered rewards for the killing of snakes which destroyed the eggs of the latter. To retrieve the birds from the undergrowth he employed a recent immigrant named Lembo,36 who moved so swiftly and was so good at his job that he was nicknamed ‘’A Sorechella’ (field-mouse). During his trips the King stayed in the Palazzo Canale, with its comfortable interior and splendid view of the Marina and the Bay of Naples, while two ships continually circled the island as protection against corsairs.


At the turn of the century Capri became embroiled in the Napoleonic wars. The French army swept down the peninsula, occupied Rome and moved on Naples. King Ferdinand and his court took refuge with the English fleet under Lord Nelson, which, after its victory at the Battle of the Nile in 1798, was anchored in the Bay of Naples, and were able to escape to Palermo. On 23 January 1799 the French entered Naples and proclaimed the Parthenopean Republic, to which many liberal and other anti-Bourbon elements rallied. In Capri an active supporter of the Republic was Gennaro Felice Arcucci, doctor, savant and wine-producer, while, much to everyone’s surprise, Bishop Gamboni praised the new régime in his sermons.


The Parthenopean Republic was short-lived. The reverses suffered by the French armies in northern Italy compelled the withdrawal from Naples of the bulk of their forces. The small garrison which remained was soon overwhelmed by English, Russian and Sardinian troops, and in June 1799 Ferdinand, protected by Nelson’s fleet, returned to his capital. The restitution of the Bourbon monarchy was followed by a massacre of republicans and the execution of their leaders – a process enthusiastically supported by Nelson.37 Arcucci was hanged in Naples on 18 March 1800. Gamboni was luckier. After being imprisoned and exiled from Capri, he retired to Rome. Finally in 1807 he was elevated to the Patriarchate of Venice, where he died in 1811.


After the Bourbon reoccupation of Naples Napoleon came to terms with the King, by undertaking to withdraw his forces from South Italy, if Ferdinand would prevent the Allies from using the ports of his Kingdom. The pact lasted until November 1805 when, with the consent of the King, a joint English and Russian force descended on Naples. Napoleon, infuriated, sent a strong French force against the city. The Allies withdrew, and on 12 February 1806 the Bourbon court fled once more to Palermo, while their troops retired to Calabria. The French were joined by the Emperor’s brother Joseph, who entered the city, captured all the neighbouring islands except Ponza, and on 30 March was declared King of Naples.


The French garrisoned and fortified Capri against a likely assault by the English fleet, which since its victory at Trafalgar was set to dominate the Mediterranean. On 12 May 1806 a naval force under Sir Sidney Smith arrived unexpectedly off Marina Grande and landed without difficulty. The French commander was killed; his force lost courage and retired to the town, where on the next day they surrendered. They were given permission to retain their arms and baggage, and were sent over to the mainland in their own ships.


It was decided to make Capri a stronghold against the French in Naples, and Lieutenant-Colonel Hudson Lowe, whose service had included the fortress of Gibraltar, was appointed to command a reinforced garrison of mainly English and Corsican troops. He made his headquarters in the Palazzo Canale and with a Caprese, Don Nicola Morgano, as director of fortifications, established defensive works on high points and in positions covering the two Marinas. Anacapri was garrisoned by a party of Corsican rangers commanded by the young and recently-promoted Captain Richard Church. Proud of his command and responsibilities, he was energetic in fortifying Anacapri, by erecting defences on the heights and above various coves on the west coast, where landings were possible.


The French, however, made no attack, and by the summer of 1808 the garrison had become bored and apathetic. In September, Church was replaced in Anacapri by Major John Hamill, in command of the Royal Regiment of Malta. Church and his Corsicans joined Lowe’s forces in Capri. The garrison now totalled about 1,800.


On 1 August the dashing General Joachim Murat, Napoleon’s brother-in-law, succeeded Joseph Bonaparte as King of Naples, with the title ‘Gioacchino Napoleone’, and was charged with the reoccupation of Capri, for which he made skilful plans.


On 27 September Lowe sent a letter from Capri ordering ‘four dozen champagne; three dozen burgundy of three years old; three dozen burgundy of four years old; six dozen of the best wines, such as Frontignan, and any others which may be held in good estimation’.38 Although agents in Naples had already warned him of an impending attack, Lowe appears to have relied on the strength of Capri’s garrison and fortifications, and on the English fleet as his first line of defence. When, however, on 3 October he received firm intelligence that the attack had been fixed for the following day, the fleet was nowhere to be seen. It had gone to Ponza, to acquaint the Neapolitan squadron there and any other English ships which it encountered that an assault was imminent.


While Murat watched from Massa, at the end of the Sorrentine peninsula, naval forces and cargo ships, with 3,000 French and Neapolitan troops on board, under the command of General Lamarque, sailed from Naples. Feint attacks were made at the two Marinas to keep Colonel Lowe’s forces occupied in Capri, while the main assault was launched on the inaccessible north-west coast of Anacapri. Equipped with ladders borrowed from the lamp-lighters of Naples, 80 men touched land before the Maltese were aware of the fact, and, having scaled the rocks, grouped themselves round a flag. 500 more were landed before there was any reaction at all from the defenders, and then, instead of charging and driving the invaders into the sea, the Maltese retreated slowly uphill. Most of them were taken prisoner, the Scala Fenicia was occupied, so that communications with Capri were cut off, and Major Hamill was killed. Completely demoralised, the remaining Maltese retreated to Monte Solaro, where they were forced to surrender, were marched with their arms and baggage into the French camp in the village of Anacapri, and sent over to Naples as prisoners of war.


Three companies of Corsican Rangers, of which one was under Captain Church, had already been despatched to reinforce Anacapri, but could achieve nothing in the face of this débâcle and, unable to use the Scala Fenicia, were guided by a peasant down the hazardous mountain-path called Passetiello and reached Capri safely with the loss of only one man.


Despite repeated requests by General Lamarque to surrender and attacks from all sides, including the bombardment of Capri town by a battery which the French in Anacapri had hauled up the mountain-side to the cliff edge at Cetrella, from where they could overlook the town, Colonel Lowe – hoping to be relieved by the Anglo-Sicilian fleet – held out in an increasingly desperate situation, in which many soldiers were killed and much damage caused to the buildings and walls of Capri. On the 16th, having lost hope of either success or relief, he hoisted the white flag, and on the 18th the island, with all its fortifications, magazines and war material, was surrendered to General Lamarque – just as the fleet from Sicily, bringing amongst other supplies Lowe’s wine-order, hove into sight. The terms for Lowe and the depleted English and Corsican forces were not severe. After being mustered in the spacious confines of the Certosa, they were conveyed with arms and baggage in their own ships to Sicily, upon their parole not to fight against the Neapolitans or French or the allies of France for a year and a day. Lowe eventually had his revenge over the French by becoming Napoleon’s gaoler on St Helena. Many years later Church became a much revered general in the Greek army.


The French left behind a garrison and strengthened the island’s fortifications against further attack. Their rule was viewed with mixed feelings in Capri. The islanders had been content with the English, not least because they had been allowed to conduct extensive contraband trade with the mainland. The French stopped this tax-losing traffic and thus deprived Capri of a substantial source of income. On the other hand, many citizens approved French action against the religious foundations of the island. On 12 Novmeber 1808 the Certosa was suppressed, its wealth and property were confiscated, and the monks were dispersed.39 Before the end of the year the same fate overtook the two convents of Santa Teresa in Anacapri and Capri. The established church, however, was not molested.


The defeat of the British in Capri was listed among the Napoleonic victories on the Arc de Triomphe and in 1811 a medallion, engraved by Louis Jaley, was struck to commemorate the victory in Capri, showing on the obverse Murat in one of his splendid uniforms and on the reverse the French fleet off Capri. The medal was not a moment too soon. The catastrophic campaign of 1812 in Russia was the prelude to a long series of French military disasters. In Italy Murat was defeated by the Austrians and in May 1815 fled from Naples to France, where the Emperor refused to meet or employ him. After his defeat at Waterloo on 15 June Napoleon abdicated and a month later surrendered to the British. But Murat did not abandon the struggle. Sailing from Corsica with a small band of supporters, in order to rouse the Italians against the Bourbon King, he landed in Calabria, but was soon rounded up. He was court-martialled, found guilty of inciting to civil war and of appearing in arms against the legitimate King, and shot on 13 October. So ended the period known in Italian history as the decennio francese, the ten years of French rule in the Kingdom of Naples.


*


In 1815 Ferdinand IV re-established his court in Naples and in December 1816 proclaimed himself Ferdinand I of the Two Sicilies (Naples and Sicily). In Capri the old order, joint rule by civil and military governors, returned. The Certosa was turned into a prison, and the Convent of Santa Teresa into a hospital for invalid soldiers. The various schools which had flourished under the liberal Bishop Gamboni were closed. The Bishopric of Capri was abolished, the Church of Santo Stefano lost the dignity of a cathedral, and the island was absorbed into the archdiocese of Sorrento, to which the episcopal records of Capri were transferred. Before the transfer many papers were destroyed as being of no value, and others were lost on the journey. The suppression of the Certosa and the sale at auction of its confiscated lands and property had mixed effects in Capri. Although some of the monks’ possessions passed into the hands of Capresi, much was bought by persons who did not live in the island and did not give personal attention to estate-management, as the monks had always done. King Ferdinand, who was a friend of the Bishop of Ischia and wanted to do him a favour, gave instructions that part of the income derived from the Certosa’s former possessions should be paid annually to the Bishop, and this galling payment is still made.


The Bourbons discouraged commerce, and their institution of a passport requirement for all visitors to what was now half-way to becoming a penal settlement inhibited travel to and from the island. In any case there was not a single inn in Capri. The island was at a very low ebb indeed.


In this gloomy year of 1818, however, a ray of hope emerged. Giuseppe Pagano, a local notary (notaio), opened in the middle of Capri town a casa ospitale, surrounded by a garden in which the most notable object was an imposing date-palm, perhaps a relic of the North African pirates. The Pagano family, which had originated in Calabria, had moved to Nocera around 1350 and one branch made its way to Capri; we have already encountered Michele, notary in the latter half of the eighteenth century, who concocted a bogus will for Anna Canale. At first, visitors to the house were guests (ospiti) of the Pagano family and lived with them free. In 1825 Giuseppe started a visitors’ book, and in the next year transformed the house into an inn (locanda) and charged for board and lodging.


Amongst his visitors of August 1826 were two Germans, August Kopisch, a painter and poet, and his friend Ernst Fries, also a painter. They were intrigued by Pagano’s account of a cave which could be reached only from the sea and was said to be haunted by evil spirits. Many years earlier two priests had swum into it, but had retreated hastily, scared by the strange colour of the water and the presence of what seemed to be an altar and statues. The cave was known to fishermen and one in particular, Angelo Ferraro, who had entered it in 1822. The visitors decided to explore it and accompanied by Pagano, his young son, and suitable equipment, including two large tubs and a cauldron of pitch to light the interior of the cave, they packed into a small boat, which was towed to the scene by Ferraro in a larger craft. They swam in through the low, narrow entrance, and Ferraro followed with the lighted pitch in one of the tubs. The swimmers were astonished by the vibrating silvery-blue water and the reflections from the white sandy bottom of the cave to its roof and sides. They returned to the hotel, and Kopisch wrote enthusiastically of it in the visitors’ book of the hotel.


And so the Blue Grotto was discovered, or rather rediscovered. That it was known to the Romans is clear from their masonry work at the back of the cave, and from the recent uncovering on its bottom of four Roman marble statues, which are at present housed in the Certosa. It was no doubt remains of this sort that had terrified the aquatic priests. Immediately above the cave are the ruins of a small Roman villa (Villa di Gradola) and on old maps the cave is marked ‘Grotta Gradola’.


A host of romantic writers, poets and painters, mostly German, visited Capri, stayed at Pagano’s and contributed to the saga of the Blue Grotto.40 All this was very good for the island. Edward Lear, however, who paid a brief call in 1838, later advised a friend to stay at Pagano’s and ‘see Tiberius’s villa – and blue grotto, if you please, but I think it a bore.’41


Capri was also being discovered by artists. Corot included it in his Italian tour of spring 1828 and painted an attractive view of the town and Monte Solaro seen from the olive-groves of Tragara.42 More important for our knowledge of Capri’s vanished topography are the works of Neapolitan artists – notably Giacinto Gigante, who between 1823 and 1843 did a series of careful and pleasing topographical drawings.43 Capri had a remarkable effect on Ivan Constantinovich Aivasovsky, a talented painter of seascapes, from the Crimea. Arriving in 1840, at the age of twenty-three, he was astonished by the effects of the southern sun sparkling over land and sea. Faced with an intensity of light he had never seen before, he abandoned his studio and took to painting in the open air. His exhibition of these paintings in St Petersburg got a frosty reception. The critics said that Capri had spoilt him, so that, abandoning naturalism, he had employed imaginary colours of impossible brilliance. Poor Aivasovsky destroyed the Capri canvases and, to restore his reputation, repainted the scenes from memory with an acceptable Russian palette.


In May 1832 William Ewart Gladstone, then aged twenty-three, and two young companions, Count Orlovsky, a Russian Pole, and Arthur, fourteenth child of Sir Thomas Pakenham, made a quick tour of the island, but bad weather denied them entry to the Blue Grotto:  




Thursday May 10 1832


Sailed for Capri [from Sorrento] about six–we all had a tedious and I a sick passage, of near four hours. Mounted to the town and lodged ourselves at Giuseppe Pagano’s.


Friday May 11


After breakfast a donkey cruise to the villa of Tiberius – pharos – mosaics – and a smirking friar, who begged of us and was refused. In this small isle are forty priests. Want of timber. Coasts magnificently precipitous. Salto of Tiberius awful. Found the boatman most rascally – the innkeeper civil and respectable. After dinner set out for Ischia. I was very sick or should have enjoyed it much. Orlowsky and Pakenham also sick. There being some sea, we were unable to enter the newly discovered cavern. Wind got round – after some tossing and several hours sailing, it was found impossible to get to ‘Isch’, as the boatmen call it (all the inhabitants here abscide the termination and mangle moreover; for Capri they say Crapi); and we sailed with a fair wind for Naples.44





In 1837 Francesco Alvino, a Neapolitan engineer, who spent two days on the island, described the inhabitants as ‘sober, hard working and quick in their movements, but extremely avaricious. Whenever a stranger is seen, rich and poor, large and small surround him and clamorously beg for money. The women wear gaily coloured gowns, with red or green silk aprons, and bodices adorned with gold braid; the arms of their chemises are tied up with red ribbons. They dress their hair with ribbons, dividing it into two tresses, which are plaited, then rolled up behind the head, and supported by large silver or gilt silver pins. The men wear long trousers, red Neapolitan fishing caps, and go barefoot. The people of Anacapri do not come in contact with the convicts, who remain at Capri, and therefore the manners of the Anacapriotes are more simple and natural; the women are more affable and pleasing, and there are some, who have perfect Greek faces. Not only do they dance the Tarantella, but also another dance which they call Trescone or Tarascone. It is a Greek dance and is danced by four or eight couples, who turn round and round, then all form into a grand circle, snapping their fingers and clapping their hands.’45 Mary Shelley, second wife of the poet, who was there in 1841, commented on the widespread poverty and prevalence of begging.46 At this time the population of 3,237 – 1,833 in Capri and 1,404 in Anacapri – was some 260 fewer than in 1792.


In 1842 Henry Wreford was posted abroad by The Times on account of lung disease. After trying the Riviera, he moved to Italy and there established himself as the paper’s special correspondent. One day in Naples he took a trip to Capri, fell in love with it, decided to make it his home and kept house there until his death fifty years later. Wreford was a scholarly and cultured man, energetic, courageous and firmly devoted to the English love of liberty. It did not take him long to become a bitter opponent of Bourbon misrule and injustice, and to identify himself with the revolutionary movement. On account of his critical despatches to The Times he became a marked man in Naples and was also much disliked by the Vatican. Although much of Wreford’s work kept him on the mainland, he was able to relax in his Capri home in the Villa Croce, at the north-east corner of Capri town. He would not have found much local wine and fruit there, for in 1839 a fierce attack of phylloxera plant-lice had made great havoc amongst the vines and fruit-trees. San Costanzo’s intervention was sought and must have been temporarily successful, because he was presented with a silver bunch of grapes and a lemon, which thereafter hung from his wrist. But the disease struck again in 1846–7 and by 1850 not a single barrel of wine was produced on the island. This total failure of the vintage reduced many of the inhabitants to a condition below their usual state of poverty, and Ferdinand Gregorovius, the young German historian who stayed in Capri for a month in the summer of 1853, records that, to avoid becoming penniless, peasant women ‘sold all their necklaces, earrings and rings, and this is a sign of the direst disasters, for only extreme desperation can separate a woman from her ornaments.’


In his book, The Island of Capri – a Mediterranean Idyll, Gregorovius provides a wide-ranging, if somewhat flowery, survey of the island at this period. He came ashore dry-shod at Marina Grande by way of a wooden bench pushed into the sea by a fisher-girl. On the beach he found relics of 1806–8 – deserted trenches and rusty cannons overgrown with genista. Having climbed the steep path to Capri town, he established himself at Pagano’s, just as a religious procession of men in white cowls, crowned with twisted blackberry-branches, and women in long white veils, penitents on account of the phylloxera plague, followed a crucifix on its way past the hotel. 
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Capri Fisherman, c.1850, by T. Valério. Photo: Allhem
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Typical Caprese farmhouse, 1842, by Giacinto Gigante. Museo Nazionale di Capodimonte. Courtesy of Centro Caprense Ignazio Cerio








Most of the farm-houses belonged to Neapolitans, the tenants relying on profits from wine, oil, fruit, cheese-making and cattle-breeding to pay their rent; in autumn and spring also the catching of quails usually provided some profit. The average farm-house was on two floors. The ground floor was used as a stable for one or more cows (who were often kept in total darkness and whose droppings were the only fertiliser available) for chickens and even for pigs, while the upper floor was the living-quarters and was reached by an exterior staircase; the roof was vaulted in the traditional caprese manner. The main industry was fishing, which continued the whole year round, and as a rule only the fishermen owned any property – namely their boats. Every year also about two hundred young men, mostly from Anacapri, worked for the coral-merchants of Torre del Greco, leaving for the Straits of Bonifacio and the North African coast in March, and hoping to return in October with enough money to marry their sweethearts. At home, meanwhile, the women and girls wove silk and cotton for the Neapolitan merchants, who gave them ‘scant pay for their unceasing labour’. Gregorovius was astonished by the ability of the women and even young girls to carry heavy loads on their heads and watched as lumps of tufa brought over from Naples were borne in this way from the marina up the steep path, for the repair of buildings in the town. Begging by children was universal – ‘being so poor it appears to them natural that those who are richer should assist them’. The Certosa, no longer a jail, housed retired soldiers who had suffered in the Napoleonic Wars and the Sicilian revolution of 1848–9. They came from every part of the Kingdom of Naples, and many were blind. Since there were no carts or carriages in the island, they could safely wander the streets without guides, groping their way with sticks – a favourite walk being along the level path of Tragara. At Marina Piccola there was ‘a tiny beach on the southern side’ and ‘two fishermen’s dwellings … built like hermits’ cells into the rocks, which afford a scanty shelter for a couple of barques’. There was a semaphore station, which was mainly used to give Naples ‘early warning’ of ships approaching from the south. The key position was on Monte Tuoro (still called ‘Semaforo’ or ‘Telegrafo’), where an official manned two telescopes – one trained on the top of Monte Solaro, from where an approaching ship would be first seen, and the other on Massa Lubrense, which was Capri’s link with the mainland. Massa communicated with the Royal Palace in Naples by intermediate stations at Castellammare and Castel St Elmo. This solitary official, accompanied only by his dog, sat day after day on Tuoro passing traffic to and from Naples. He lived not near his work, but in Anacapri, journeying out in the early morning and back in the evening by the Scala Fenicia.47


In 1855, for the first time, Capri was given a place in Murray’s Handbook for Travellers in Southern Italy, which advised that the island was best visited from Sorrento, where a six-oared boat could be hired for 4 to 6 francs48 (3 to 5 shillings); the crossing took about two hours. For travellers who intended to spend only a day on Capri a very early start was recommended, as it required ‘several hours to examine even superficially the principal objects of interest in the island; a calm day should be chosen to prevent disappointment in seeing the Grotta Azzurra and the Grotta Verde’.49 A cheaper but longer voyage could be made from Naples by the market-or fish-boats, which left at 1 p.m., took 3 to 4 hours and therefore required the traveller to remain in Capri overnight. For visitors who wished to stay, there was a hotel at the Marina; and three in Capri town – all offering ‘clean and tolerably comfortable accommodation’. For visitors prepared to take the time Murray recommended the Villa Iovis, The Metromania (sic) grotto,50 Roman remains on the top of Monte San Michele, the long row of arches called Le Camerelle,51 the Castiglione hill with its crowning castello, and the Roman remains at Palazzo a Mare near the port. Donkeys and guides were desirable in view of the fatigue caused by continual ascents. To visit Anacapri the traveller could climb the Scala Fenicia or ‘if unable to incur the fatigue of doing so on foot … be carried in a chair (portantina)’. Having reached the top of the steps and being prepared to mount still higher he could climb to the Castle of Barbarossa, the Chapel of Santa Maria a Cetrella and finally the summit of Monte Solaro. There was then a steep descent to Anacapri village, where he could find ‘refreshments and decent accommodation for the night … at a house kept by a woman called Brigida’, and, if he wished, do more sight seeing.


In the ’fifties a Scot and two Englishmen, all of different character and pursuits, made Capri their home and married local girls. George Sidney Clark, born in Scotland in 1819, qualified as a doctor and practised medicine for some years, until the spirit moved him to settle in Capri, where he devoted himself and his wealth to the good of the island, giving free medical service to the poor and helping in other ways. His wife Anna bore him two sons and four daughters. Before his death in 1868 he was made an honorary citizen of Capri.52


Of the two Englishmen, Thomas Brinsley Norton, 4th Baron Grantley, born in 1831, had a fall out hunting with the York and Ainsty hounds and received ‘a head injury which affected his conduct for the rest of his life’. He went to live in Capri and in 1854 married the daughter of a local lawyer, and sired a son and heir, John, and daughter Carlotta.53 The other, James Talmage White, born in London in 1837, the son of James White, a Liberal MP, was destined by his father for commerce, but instead decided to become an artist. After studying first in Switzerland, he joined Jean François Millet’s circle in Paris. Having espoused the cause of the Italian patriots and become an admirer of Garibaldi, he went south to Capri, bought property there and in Amalfi, established a studio in the island, and married a local girl; their son Alberto Garibaldi was born in Amalfi in 1861.


While Capri was gradually being discovered by foreigners, in Naples and Sicily the Bourbons were becoming increasingly unpopular and ineffective, and the revolutionary movement correspondingly stronger. On 5 May 1860 Garibaldi, with just over a thousand volunteers, left Genoa in two small paddle-steamers, which they had stolen, and arrived six days later at Marsala. Although confronted by superior forces he defiantly proclaimed himself Dictator, ruling on behalf of Vittorio Emanuele, King of Piedmont, and, quickly winning popular support, swept away the last relics of Bourbon rule. Francis II and his demoralised forces retreated first to Messina and then over to the mainland and to Naples. Similar movements started in southern Italy, and the nationalists appealed to Garibaldi for help. Vittorio Emanuele forbade him to cross the Straits of Messina, but he did so and then advanced on Naples. Deserted by most of his soldiers, Francis abandoned Naples, and next day Garibaldi entered the capital. Meanwhile, in support of popular movements in Umbria and the Marches, the Italian army invaded the Papal States and defeated the Papal army at Castelfidardo. The King’s forces pushed on into Neapolitan territory and took over the authority which Garibaldi had assumed. Garibaldi was warmly thanked by the King for what he had done, but he refused all rewards and retired to his home in Sardinia.


In the plebiscite of 21 October 1860 Capri joined Naples in voting overwhelmingly (1,303,064 to 10,312) for annexation to the new Kingdom of Italy. The Capresi ‘gave themselves up to such riotous demonstrations (baccani e dimostrazioni) that one would have thought they had taken leave of their senses’.54 The town-councillors, however, some of whom had Bourbon sympathies, took a cooler look at the situation, and instead of removing the shield with the Bourbon coat of arms, which stood above the town-gate, ordered that it should be plastered over to hide the fleur de lys, but in such a manner that, if Bourbon rule was ever restored, the plaster could quickly be removed.55 Before this exciting year came to an end, disaster nearly overtook the effigy of San Costanzo. The new Government gave orders for the weighing of the Saint, with a view, it was suspected, of his being boiled down and turned into five-franc pieces. The islanders were panic-stricken. Calamity was only averted by the ‘munificent action of one of the Canons, who handed over to the authorities a sum in hard cash equivalent to the value of the precious metal’.56
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9. Ephebi (ἔϕηβοι) were Greek youths who between the age of 18 and that of full citizenship (usually 20) spent a period of, mainly military, training, which included gymnastics. The custom still persisted in Capri because, until acquired by Augustus, the island had belonged to Naples, which retained its Greek customs and language.


10. Suet., Aug., 98.


11. Suet., Tiberius, 40.


12. Tacitus, Annals, iv, 67.


13. Ingenious scholars have listed known, probable and possible locations of these villas. They certainly included the Villa Iovis (on the summit of Capo at the north-east tip of Capri), which is mentioned by Pliny as ‘Arx Tiberii’ (Pliny, iii, vi, 82); and by Suetonius as ‘Villa Iovis’ (Suet. Tib., 65); Damecuta in Anacapri; and the Palazzo a Mare, west of Marina Grande. There were other villas on the northern slope of the Castiglione, on the summit of Monte San Michele and along Tragara.


14. Tac., Ann., iv, 67; vi, 1. Suet, Tib., 42–4, 60, 62, 74.


15. It is not known whether Elephantis was male or female, nor whether the writings were in verse or prose (see Smith, 1854).


16. Suet., Vitellius, 3.


17. Greek painter, floruit 397 B.C., born in Ephesus and later became Athenian citizen.


18. Tac., Ann., vi, 6 (trs. J. Jackson in Loeb Classical Library, p. 163).


19. Dio Cassius, lii, 43. Of the splendid buildings erected by Augustus and Tiberius only the indestructible foundations of the Villa Iovis and parts of the Damecuta villa and the Palazzo a Mare/Bagni di Tiberio are still visible. Destruction has been continuous. Roman building materials have never ceased to be incorporated in Capri houses and walls. A succession of wanton excavators have removed marble by the ton: quantities of columns, statues and pavements have been devoured in the island’s lime-kilns or exported for this purpose to Naples. Lead-piping, whenever found, vanishes immediately (see Douglas, 1930, 227–9).


20. Pane considers that the present church is not earlier than the twelfth century. Since the tradition of San Costanzo as patron of the island and its protector against Saracen raids was already established in the ninth century, it is likely that an earlier, probably basilican, church preceded the present late Byzantine building (Pane, 1967, 34–7).


21. Eliseo Arcucci is described as classis praefectus by the sixteenth-century historian Capaccio. This has been taken to mean Grand Admiral, or Admiral of the Fleet, but his name appears in none of the relevant lists of the time, and I follow Douglas, 1930, 152–3, in regarding him simply as a sea-captain.


22. The funeral monument to Giacomo Arcucci was the work of Michelangelo Naccherino (1550–1622), a Florentine who moved to Naples and became court sculptor there. Originally made for the Certosa, the monument was moved to the Church of Santo Stefano in 1891.


23. The ducat, generally of gold and of varying value, was in use in many European countries. It was first struck by Roger II of Sicily in his capacity as Duke of Apulia and bore the inscription ‘Sit tibi, Christe, datus, quem tu regis, iste ducatus’ (Lord, thou rulest this duchy, to thee be it dedi cated).


24. Cerio, 1957, 19–20.


25. The full text of Bouchard’s narrative is quoted in Cerio, 1950, 32–9; there is an English translation and commentary in Andrén, 1980, 112–19; I am indebted to both for these extracts.


26. A detailed account of Bishop Pellegrino is given in Cerio, 1934a, 70–132; there is a summary in Cerio, 1957, 29–34.


27. For detailed biography of Prudentia, who became Sister Serafina, see Douglas, 1930, 157–212, which is fuller and earlier in date than the résumé in Douglas, 1929, 179–220.


28. Douglas, 1929, 185–6.


29. This is reminiscent of the aftermath of the earthquake of 23 November 1980, when homeless families, who appealed to be admitted to unoccupied church cloisters in Naples, were refused access.


30. The resemblance is set out in comparative tables in Douglas, 1930, 209–12.


31. Douglas, 1929, 205.


32. In 1813 Serafina’s coffin was moved from the Convent Church of San Salvatore to the Parish Church of Santo Stefano, where it was laid under the High Altar. In 1820 it was moved to Chapel of the Lesser Crucifix; in 1856, to near the Baptistery; and finally laid to rest in the Chapel of the Crucifix, where an inscription was placed to record these peregrinations.


33. Trower, 1906, 248–9.


34. This account of Thorold is based partly on Cerio, 1957, 39–44; partly on documents kindly put at my disposal by the Rev. Henry Thorold of Marston, Lincolnshire, who has done research into the early history of the Thorold family; and partly on help from Thorold’s descendant Vittorio Canale, who lives in Capri. Cerio is inaccurate in saying that Nathaniel made no will. Whatever may have happened to his corpse, Nathaniel has no known tomb or memorial at Harmston or elsewhere in Lincolnshire.


35. Hadrawa wrote 40 letters about Capri to a friend, which were first published in 1793 in Italian and translated into German in 1794 (see Bibliography).


36. The Lembo family emigrated from Lecce (Puglia) to Capri in 1740. The nickname ‘Sorechella’ still applies to members of the family, e.g. to Attilio Lembo, steward of Hotel La Palma, who gave me this information.


37. The Parthenopean ‘martyrs’ are commemorated on a tablet which stands at the entrance of the municipio of Naples. Arcucci, who was executed on 18 March 1800, is fourth in the list of names. There is also a tablet in his memory on the south-east side of the Piazza of Capri.


38. Manuscript amongst the Lowe papers in the British Museum; quoted in Douglas, 1930, 302.


39. Amongst the property dispersed were the Certosa’s documents, which were ‘sold for packing purposes, as waste paper, to the shopkeepers of Capri’. Some of these papers were acquired by the antiquarian and historian Giuseppe Feola, who worked in Capri until his death in 1842, when they were again dispersed – altogether the most serious literary loss sustained by Capri since Roman times (Douglas, 1930, 107–8).


40. There are accounts of the Blue Grotto by Alexandre Dumas père in Le Spéronare (Tome I, 43, edition of 1855, Michel Levy, Paris) and by Hans Christian Andersen in The Improvisator (1834). The young German poet Wilhelm Waiblinger stayed for a month in the autumn of 1828 and wrote an ultra-sentimental Märchen von der Blauen Grotte (which he never visited) and Briefe aus Capri; on his death-bed in Rome in 1830 at the age of 25, ravaged by excesses and disease, he survived just long enough to write his Lied auf Capri. Kopisch himself waited until 1838 before publishing Entdeckung der Blauen Grotte. A good practical explanation is provided by the Italian archaeologist, Prof. Amedeo Maiuri:





The lucky concurrence of geological and spelaeological conditions have endowed the grotto with a twofold enchantment. The cave sank during a geological age 15–20 metres below the present sea level and thus blocked every opening through which light might enter directly, except the narrow breach of access, with the result that both the cavity of the grotto and the sea basin that is enclosed in it acquired two different and magical colours, for on one side the sunlight penetrating from below through a veil of sea water springs out and is reflected on to the sides and the vault of the grotto coloured with azure; and on the other side, this light being reflected by the white sandy bottom of the grotto renders the water strangely opalescent so that any object that is bathed in it drips and vibrates with a silvery light. (Maiuri, 1958, 80)


41. Manuscript letter by Edward Lear, dated 4 January 1840, in National Library of Scotland, to which Alan Anderson kindly drew my attention.


42. In a private collection in England (Cerio, 1957, Plate 20).


43. These drawings, which are in the Museum of San Martino in Naples and in the Astarita collection in the Museo Nazionale at Capodimonte, are reproduced at the back of Pane, 1967. Gigante’s drawings, and paintings and drawings of other artists were exhibited at the Certosa in 1980–81, under the auspices of the Soprintendenza per i Beni Artistici e Storici della Campania; they are illustrated in a good catalogue, L’Immagine di Capri.


44. Extracts from The Gladstone Diaries, Vol 1 (1832), edited by M. R. D. Foot and H. C. G Matthew, London, 1968.


45. Francesco Alvino, Due Giorni a Capri, Naples, 1838 (reprinted Naples, 1967).


46. Shelley, 1844, 262–79.


47. Gregorovius, trs. Fairbairn, 1896, 17–21, 42–68, 78–9 and 86–91.


48. The French monetary system was in force, the lira and franc having the same value; 1.25 francs were the equivalent of one English shilling.


49. The Grotta Verde got its name from the dazzling green colour of the roof and sides as viewed in the middle of the day. See also Douglas, 1930, 151 and 231; Mackowen, 1883, 165–6; Walters, 1893, 186–7.


50. This grotto, whose name occurs variously as Matermania, Mitromania, Matromania, Matremania, and Metromania, is situated amongst rocks which drop steeply down the south-east side of the island. The Romans used masonry, which still survives, to adapt the irregular shape of the cave to that of a rectangular apsed hall. Dripping water which filtered through the rocks above, collected into a small hollow, which was reached by a row of steps. The cave has been linked with the worship both of Mithras and the Magna Mater (Cybele). The facts, theories and arguments are set out in Trower, 1906, 221–8; Douglas, 1930, 243–6; and Maiuri, 1958, 86–7.


51. Le Camerelle (‘Little chambers’), which are now submerged beneath a street of shops and houses, were a succession of vaulted cells, built in Roman times, probably with the double purpose of supporting a road from Castiglione to Tragara and collecting/storing rainwater. Hadrawa put forward the improbable theory that they were the parlours (sellaria) where young people performed sexual acts for the gratification of the Emperor Tiberius.


52. In 1908 a tablet was erected in Clark’s honour in the courtyard of the Municipio.


53. A short account of the 4th Baron Grantley and his Caprese wife is given by the 6th Baron in his reminiscences, Silver Spoon (London, 1954, 15, 20–1). Edwin Cerio deals very tediously with a nineteenth-century English resident, ‘Burton, Lord Bentley’, who married ‘Luisa’, the daughter of ‘Mastro Saverio, the baker of Anacapri’ (L’Ora di Capri, 210–25, and The Masque of Capri, 75–89). In yet a third book by Cerio this character becomes ‘Marston, Lord Bexley’ (Aria di Capri, trs. That Capri Air, 111–17).


54. Canale, 1887, quoted by Walters, 1893, 148.


55. Mackowen, 1883, 116.


56. Walters, 1893, 152.
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